
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE

NORTHERN DIVISION

Heather Owings,
Plaintiff,

v.

LVNV Funding, LLC, D&A Services,
LLC, Jacob Law Group, PLLC,
Defendants.

)
)
) No.
)
)
)
)
)

______________________________________________________________________________

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF 15 USC 1692K §807(2)(A)
______________________________________________________________________________

COMES NOW Plaintiff, Heather Owings, by and through undersigned counsel, and

pursuant to U.S.C. 1692K §807(2)(A), alleges as follows:

The Parties

1. Plaintiff is a citizen and resident of Roane County, Tennessee.

2. Defendants, LVNV Fundings, LLC (“LVNV”) and D&A Services, LLC

(“D&A”), are limited liability companies that do business in Roane County, Tennessee.

3. LVNV is a debt collectors that sued Plaintiff in the Roane County General

Sessions Court in the matter of LVNV Fundings, LLC v. Heather Owings, Docket No.

22-CV-1742.

Jurisdiction and venue

4. This action arises under and is brought pursuant to the Fair Debt Collection

Practices Act. Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by 15 USC 1692K

§807(2)(A), as the action arises under the laws of the United States. Supplemental jurisdiction

exists for the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367.
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5. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 as Defendants conducts

business within the Eastern District of Tennessee and a substantial portion of the events or

omissions giving rise to the claims occurred within the Eastern District of Tennessee.

Statement of facts

6. On May 26, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from D&A regarding her past due

Credit One Bank account ending in 4712. The letter indicated the balance as of that time was

$1,144.62 and that the current creditor who owned the debt was LVNV. The letter presented

Plaintiff with an offer to settle the debt for $572.31 (Exhibit A).

7. Plaintiff at that time did not have the funds to pay off the debt.

8. In October of 2020, Plaintiff hired a debt consolidation company known as Global

Holdings, LLC to work with her to pay off her various debts.

9. On October 20, 2020, $8,259.00 was posted to her account to fund settling her

debts.

10. On October 21, 2020, Plaintiff spoke with a representative from D&A about

settling her account ending in 4712. After negotiating with the representative from D&A,

Plaintiff was told that the best offer they could make on her account was to settle the account in

full for 43% of the balance, which is exactly $492.19. Plaintiff informed the representative that

she would accept the settlement offer and she promptly had Global Holdings, LLC issue the

$492.19 payment to D&A (Exhibit B).

11. Plaintiff was told by the representative from D&A that they would provide her

with verification that the account was settled after receiving payment. Plaintiff has not received

any such verification to this date.
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12. Instead, on October 26, 2020, Plaintiff received another letter from D&A

confirming the telephone conversation that Plaintiff had with their representative prior in the

week. This letter, however, purported that the balance on the Plaintiff’s account ending in 4712

was now $652.43, $492.19 less than the original balance from the letter dated on May 26, 2020.

The letter went on to suggest that Plaintiff and D&A had agreed to settle the account for an

additional settlement payment of $430 (Exhibit C).

13. Whether by malicious intent or negligent error, D&A failed to settle the account

with the agreed upon payment of $492.19. Assuming for arguendo that D&A avers that

Plaintiff’s payment of $492.19 was a payment made prior to the settlement offer being agreed

upon, the inexplicably precise figure of $492.19, which as stated supra is exactly 43% of the

original balance of $1,144.62, suggests that this figure was not a regular payment. Furthermore,

Plaintiff asks that this Court take judicial notice that it is common practice for debt collectors and

creditors to settle debts in whole number percentages.

14. D&A’s failure to zero out Plaintiff’s account after receiving the agreed upon

settlement payment constitutes a mischaracterization of the character and amount of Plaintiff’s

debt.

15. LVNV has continued to attempt to collect on the debt despite Plaintiff informing

LVNV funding on multiple occasions about her settlement payment with D&A. LVNV is

complicit with D&A’s action and has most recently sued Plaintiff in the Roane County General

Sessions Court for $652.43 (Exhibit D), constituting a mischaracterization of the character and

amount of Plaintiff’s debt.

16. This has resulted in wrongful debt collection activity, litigation, and incorrect

credit reporting which has harmed Plaintiff’s credit.
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17. Plaintiff has been denied credit as the result of Defendant's actions as alleged

supra. Damage to her credit has cost her more than $115,000, as she has already paid over

$15,000 in higher interest rates, and is unable to use her credit to make substantial purchases, as

will be proven at trial.

Count I: Violation of 15 USC 1692K §807(2)(A)

18. D&A and LVNV Funding are debt collectors as defined by 15 USC § 1692(a)(6)

of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ( “FDCPA”).

19. Pursuant to 15 USC 1692K §807(2)(A), debt collectors are in violation of the

FDCPA if they falsely represent, “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt.”

20. D&A’s letter to Plaintiff showing Plaintiff’s account ending in 4712 with a

balance of $652.43 after she had made the agreed upon settlement payment, as shown in Exhibit

C, constitutes a false representation of the character, amount, and legal status of Plaintiff’s debt.

21. LVNV’s filing of a lawsuit against Plaintiff with a sworn account that Plaintiff’s

account ending in 4712 has a balance of $652.43, as shown in Exhibit D, constitutes a false

representation of the character, amount, and legal status of Plaintiff’s debt.

22. Pursuant to 15 USC 1692K §813(a)(1),(2)(A), and (2)(C), both Defendants are

liable for actual damages, statutory damages of $1,000 (for each Defendant), reasonable

attorneys fees, and court costs.

Count II: Damage to Plaintiff’s credit

23. Despite making all of the payments to Defendants as agreed, Defendants have

continued to report Plaintiff’s debt as delinquent.

24. Defendants have wrongfully and repeatedly reported Plaintiff’s account as being

delinquent to the credit bureaus.
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25. Because of Defendants’ reporting, Plaintiff has suffered a significant reduction in

her credit rating, which has substantially increased the rates at which lenders have required to

pay in order to borrow money.

26. These increased rates have resulted in at least $15,000 in interest payments and

fees that Plaintiff is obligated to make as a result of Defendants false reporting.

27. She is also being denied credit and is unable to use her credit to make purchases.

This has damaged the value of her credit in excess of $100,000.

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Plaintiff prays that this Court:

28. Award Plaintiff actual damages for damage to her credit in the amount of at least

$115,000, or in the amount proven at trial.

29. Award Plaintiff statutory damages in the amount of $1,000 for each Defendant

(for a total of $3,000), and reasonable attorneys fees of at least $30,000 plus court costs, pursuant

to 15 USC 1692K §813(a)(1),(2)(A), and (2)(C).

30. Enjoin Defendants from further pursuit of this invalid collection.

31. Award Plaintiff any other relief it sees fair and just.

Respectfully submitted on this the 19th day of July, 2023.

/s/ Bennett Hirschhorn
BENNETT HIRSCHHORN, ESQ (BPR #025937)
Attorney for Plaintiff
800 South Gay Street, Suite 700
Knoxville, TN 37929
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EXHIBIT A

7
Case 3:23-cv-00261   Document 1   Filed 07/19/23   Page 7 of 20   PageID #: 7



From: Heather Owings heatherowings@me.com
Subject: settlement offer

Date: June 17, 2020 at 8:01 PM
To: clientservice@wordenaa.com

Hello my name is Heather Owings attached you will find a settlement offer from Credit One. My client ID is 4447525.
Thank you,
Heather Owings
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EXHIBIT B
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Global Holdings LLC
4343 S. 118th E. Ave, Suite 220 
Tulsa, OK 74146

RETURN SERVICE REQUESTED

August 18, 2022

Global Holdings LLC
Account #:  6036335096135313

Heather Owings
829 Alma Ln 
Kingston, TN 37763

DATE DESCRIPTION TYPE AMOUNT BALANCE
10/01/2020 Monthly Service Charge - 09/20 Global Fee -$9.95 $0.00
10/07/2020 Monthly Draft - 10/05/20 Deposit $248.83 $248.83
10/07/2020 Second Round LP Payment -$85.00 $163.83
10/07/2020 Second Round LP Payment -$10.00 $153.83
10/07/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $151.83
10/07/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $149.83
10/07/2020 Settlement Fee - Second Round LP Payment -$31.88 $117.95
10/20/2020 Monthly Draft - 10/16/20 Deposit $8,259.00 $8,376.95
10/21/2020 Second Round LP Payment -$643.14 $7,733.81
10/21/2020 Second Round LP Payment -$600.56 $7,133.25
10/21/2020 Second Round LP Payment -$885.92 $6,247.33
10/21/2020 Dynia & Associates LLC Payment -$492.19 $5,755.14
10/21/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $5,753.14
10/21/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $5,751.14
10/21/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $5,749.14
10/21/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $5,747.14
10/21/2020 Settlement Fee - Second Round LP Payment -$326.24 $5,420.90
10/21/2020 Settlement Fee - Dynia & 

Associates LLC
Payment -$286.15 $5,134.75

10/23/2020 MCM-New-Midland Credit Management Payment -$1,268.00 $3,866.75
10/23/2020 Second Round LP Payment -$322.99 $3,543.76
10/23/2020 Javitch Block and Rothbone Payment -$1,251.26 $2,292.50
10/23/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $2,290.50
10/23/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $2,288.50
10/23/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $2,286.50
10/23/2020 Settlement Fee - MCM-New-Midland 

Credit Management
Payment -$792.48 $1,494.02

10/23/2020 Settlement Fee - Second Round LP Payment -$152.35 $1,341.67
10/23/2020 Settlement Fee - Javitch Block and 

Rothbone
Payment -$1,251.26 $90.41

10/28/2020 Credit Control LLC Payment -$25.00 $65.41
10/28/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $63.41
10/28/2020 Settlement Fee - Credit Control 

LLC
Payment -$62.46 $0.95

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY STATEMENT  (THIS IS NOT A BILL)

Please note that you have a right to receive a paper version of your monthly statement via U.S. mail. If 
you prefer to receive paper statements via standard mail, please contact our Customer Support group 

via email at customersupport@ghllc.com or phone at (800) 398-7191.
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11/09/2020 Monthly Draft - 11/05/20 Deposit $410.00 $410.95
11/09/2020 Monthly Service Charge - 10/20 Global Fee -$9.95 $401.00
11/10/2020 Credit Control LLC Payment -$251.00 $150.00
11/10/2020 Global Direct Pay Fee Global Fee -$2.00 $148.00
11/10/2020 Settlement Fee - Credit Control 

LLC
Payment -$109.54 $38.46

Account Inquiries (800) 398-7191
Correspondence Address

4343 S. 118th E. Ave, Suite 220 Tulsa, OK 74146
Payment Address

PO Box 690870 Tulsa, OK 74169-0870

If you have any questions or need assistance you may contact us at the phone number referenced above or by email, 
customersupport@ghllc.com.  Please note that the above account balance may not be the actual balance of your account due 
to pending transactions not yet processed.
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Error Resolution Procedures: In case of errors or questions about transactions involving your Account, call or write customer 
service no later than sixty days after the transaction in question has been reflected on your monthly statement.  Please provide 
the following information:

Your name and Account number.
Date and amount of the transaction.
Type of transaction and description of the suspected error.  Please explain as clearly as possible why you believe there is an 
error or why you need additional information.
Dollar amount of the suspected error.

If you provide this information orally, you may also be required to provide it in writing within ten business days.  You will be told 
of the results of the investigation of the suspected error within ten business days after you submit the information and any error 
will be promptly corrected.  However, if more time is required to investigate the suspected error, it may take up to an additional 
thirty days to complete the investigation.  If it is determined that there is no error, you will be provided with a written explanation 
within three business days of such determination; and you may ask for and receive copies of the documents used in making any 
such determination.
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EXHIBIT C
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This communication is from a debt collector. This is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose.
This collection agency is licensed by the Collection Service Board of the Tennessee Department of Commerce and Insurance.

UVSFA

D & A Services
1400 E. Touhy Avenue, Suite G2
Des Plaines, Illinois 60018

Toll Free: 866-818-6571
Web: https://myaccount.dnasllc.com
Hours of Operations: M-Th 8 am - 7 pm CST

Fri 8 am - 5 pm CST

Heather Owings
829 Alma Ln
Kingston, TN 377633302

October 26, 2020

Re:
Current Creditor: LVNV Funding LLC
Account Number: XXXXXXXXXXXX4712
Balance: $652.43
D&A Account Number: 6757321

Dear Heather Owings,

This letter is to confirm our telephone conversation regarding the proposed arrangement for the balance owed on the LVNV
Funding LLC account referenced above. When we discussed the arrangement, you agreed to pay the amount listed below to resolve
this account.

Total Settlement Amount

$493.00

This arrangement is contingent upon timely payment. We will honor this offer, provided the full arrangement amount is paid by 
10/30/2020 in accordance with the payment schedule outlined below:

If the arrangement consists of additional payments, please refer to the table on the additional page(s) for remaining schedule.

1. $493.00 by 10/30/2020

Payments may be made through ACH, check or money order. If paying by ACH, in accordance with our arrangement, payments
will be processed by D&A Services, LLC on the above referenced dates. If paying by check or money order, please make
payments payable to D&A Services, LLC and write your D&A account number on the check or money order.

Upon receipt and clearance of the payment for the full arrangement amount, no further attempts will be made to collect the
remining balance. You must make all required payments by their agreed upon due date(s). Failure to remit timely payment for the
full arrangement amount by the date referenced above may result in further collection efforts to recover the full balance owed.

There may be tax consequences as a result of a settlement. Please consult a tax professional if you have questions or want advice
about any potential tax consequences.

Regards,

D & A Services
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EXHIBIT D
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that emailed a true and correct copy of this paper to the person listed below at the

address below:

LVNV Funding, LLC
Defendant
2908 Poston Ave
Nashville, TN 37203

D&A Services, LLC
Defendant
205 Powell Pl
Brentwood, TN 37027

Jacob Law Group, PLLC
Defendant
2908 Poston Ave
Nashville, TN 37203

This the 19th day of July, 2023.

/s/ BENNETT HIRSCHHORN, ESQ. (BPR #025937)
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